IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2009CA-00268

SHELIA REGAN	APPELLANT
VS.	
SOUTH CENTRAL REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER	APPELLEES
BRIEF OF APPELLANT	

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF JONES COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT

PAULI LAW FIRM
P. O. BOX 6
HATTIESBURG, MS 39404
TELEPHONE: 601-545-7624

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2009CA-00268

SHELIA REGAN

APPELLANT

VS.

SOUTH CENTRAL REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER

APPELLEES

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

I. ISSUES ON APPEAL:

- 1. Whether the Plaintiff is entitled to have the Judgment of Dismissal (without prejudice) set aside (a) under Rule 60(b)(4) because the order Granting Summary Judgment and the order denying the Rule 59(e) Motion for Reconsideration are *void*; (b) under 60(b)(5) because the prior judgment it was based on has been *reversed*; and/or (c) via the catchall provision of 60(b)(6), "for any other reason justifying relief from the judgment".
- 2. Stated differently, whether the trial judge erred in ruling that Plaintiff was not entitled to Rule 60(b) relief from a Judgment of Dismissal without prejudice that was granted in reliance upon the *Walker* case, that was subsequently *reversed* and upon the *unconstitutional* procedural portion of MCA §11-1-58, i.e., requiring the complaint be accompanied by an attorney's certificate of consultation when filed. It is axiomatic that something that is "unconstitutional" was always *unconstitutional*.

II. HISTORY AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

- 1. Everyone should agree that the Plaintiff in this medical negligence case did everything she and her attorney were required to do under the MTCA and under the common law, except that the attorney's certificate of expert consultation was inadvertently not attached to the Complaint when it was filed on March 10, 2005. That is, (a) the pre-filing notice of claim to the Defendant was done; (b) the Plaintiff waited the prescribed period of time before filing the Complaint; (c) the Plaintiff's attorney consulted with a qualified medical expert before filing the Complaint; (d) the Complaint was filed within the applicable statute of limitations; (e) the Complaint otherwise states a claim upon which relief may be granted; and (f) service of process upon the Defendant was done within 120 days of filing the Complaint. Further, Plaintiff attempted to cure the unconstitutional statutory procedural defect of not attaching the certificate to the Complaint, about 31 days after the Complaint was served. More particularly, the Plaintiff immediately filed the missing certificate with the Clerk of Court and provided a copy to the Defendant's attorney of record only one (1) day after the Defendant filed a Rule 12 (b)(6) Motion to Dismiss for violation of MCA §11-1-58.
- 2. The Appellate Court should take judicial notice that the Complaint was filed on March 10, 2005 (R.E. 11); service of process was obtained on June 21, 2005 (R.15-16); the Motion to Dismiss was filed on July 20, 2005 (R.E. 12); and the letter of transmittal to the Clerk and the Certificate of Consultation were filed on June 21, 2005 (R.E.13). Further, during the November 7, 2005 hearing on Defendant's Motion to Dismiss for violation of MCA §11-1-58, the trial court conducted an *in camera* review of the faxed letter report of Plaintiff's

expert, Dr. Paul Blaylock, that was dated and faxed on March 5, 2005 to undersigned counsel, some five (5) days <u>before</u> the filing of the Complaint herein on March 10, 2005 (T. Pgs. 5-6); and during said hearing, counsel for the Defendant stated to the Court:

"It was done by - - I think inadvertence by some of his staff that it just wasn't attached. And we don't dispute that". (T. Pg. 3). "We think its just a clerical mistake". (T. Pg. 7).

The trial court's Order Denying Motion to Dismiss, dated November 7, 2005, (R.E.14), found among other things, that the Plaintiff's attorney had in fact consulted with a medical expert five (5) days before the Complaint was filed.

- 3. The Complaint, hereinafter referred to as the Complaint filed in "Regan I", was timely filed and timely served, *albeit* a complaint that was wanting of an accompanying certificate of consultation. Thus, it still served to *toll* the statute of limitations until April 2, 2008, when there was an Order by the trial court denying Plaintiff's (2) two, Rule 59(e) Motions for Reconsideration. See, Exhibit "1", Order of April 2, 2008¹. *Price v. Clark, M.D. et al*, 2009 WL 2183271, ¶31 (Miss.), not yet released for publication; *Owens v. Mai*, 891 So.2d 220, 223 (Miss.2005); *Watters v. Stripling*, 675 So.2d 1242 (Miss.1996); *Erby v. Cox*, 654 So.2d 503 (Miss.1995); and *5 MS Prac. Encyclopedia MS Law* §44:22.
- 4. One Rule 59(e) motion (R.E. 16) sought reconsideration of the trial court's Order of November 27, 2007, (R.E. 15) denying Plaintiff's Motion for Leave to Amend the Complaint by attaching an attorney's certificate, that had already been on file with the Clerk for over

^{1.} The Order of April 2, 2008, was not made part of the record excerpts due to the oversight of the undersigned counsel.

two years. (R.66-85). The other Rule 59(e) motion (R.E. 18) sought reconsideration of the trial court's Order of November 27, 2007, (R.E. 17), granting Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgement and Judgment of Dismissal (without prejudice).

- 5. It is important to note, that as of the April 2, 2008 ruling, (Exhibit "1" hereto) the Plaintiff still had eight (8) days remaining on her statute of limitations to file another complaint on this same cause of action against the same Defendant. This is because the dismissal was "without prejudice", even though initially, the Judgment of Dismissal via the granting of summary judgment did not state whether it was "with" or "without" prejudice. Further, Regan I has never been litigated on the merits. Rather, it was dismissed without prejudice on a "matter of form".
- 6. On April 3, 2008, the Plaintiff filed another, nearly identical Complaint in Cause No.: 2008-873-CV4 for this same cause of action against this same Defendant. The only difference is that an attorney's Certificate of Consultation was indeed attached, when it was filed. That case is affectionately known as "Regan III." It is still pending, though a Rule 59(e) Motion to Amend Order and Judgment of Dismissal, that dismissed same on a tolling of statute of limitations issue is stayed (T. Pgs. 50-51), awaiting desired direction from the court herein in Regan I ², ³.

Please note, briefly there was a Regan II, Cause No. 2007-248CV11, which was filed prematurely before the aforementioned Rule 59 motions for reconsideration were ruled on, so it was voluntarily dismissed without prejudice and is of no consequence to the matters now before the court.

Granting the Rule 60(b) post-judgment relief will allow Mrs. Regan to seek a voluntary dismissal without prejudice of the Complaint filed in Regan III, now pending, but stayed. On the contrary, a denial of post-judgment relief

- 7. The granting of Summary Judgment on November 27, 2007, was preceded by a hearing held on November 5, 2007. At the hearing, counsel for the hospital pointed out that since the court last ruled on this issue in favor of the Plaintiff, (i.e., November 2005) (R.E. 14), the Supreme Court had handed down a decision in *Walker v. Whitfield Nursing Center*, 931 So.2d 583 (Miss.2006), adopting the strict compliance standard as to the mandatory requirements for filing suit under 11-1-58. Counsel for the hospital, also argued that under the *Walker* decision, this case should be dismissed because the trial court doesn't have any discretion not to dismiss it, where there was a failure to strictly comply with the statute. (T. Pg 13). Counsel asked for the "retroactive" application of the *Walker* decision to this case and for the granting of summary judgment. (T. Pg. 15). Regan argued *interalia* that the earlier denial of the hospital's Motion to Dismiss on the same issue was the "law of the case." (R.E. 14; T. Pg 14).
- 8. Despite valiant efforts to distinguish Regan I from the *Walker* case and to urge the court to allow leave to amend, Regan was unsuccessful. The contrasting distinguishing features are set out in ¶'s 8 and 9 of her Response to Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment. (R.E. 19, at 90-92). Leave to amend was sought on the basis that the court should treat the Defendant's Rule 56 motion, as a second Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss or a Rule

herein, will all but guaranty an appeal of Regan III, where the basis for the trial court's granting of hospital's Rule 12(b)(6) Motion to Dismiss and Judgment of Dismissal on September 10, 2008 is that Regan I, though dismissed without prejudice, it was not appealed, thus, it was a nullity without an accompanying statutory certificate of consultation when filed, that did not toll the statute of limitations. Currently, a Rule 59(e) Motion to Amend Order and Judgment of Dismissal informing the trial court of the reversal of *Walker* and the *unconstitutionality* of MCA §11-1-58 is pending, but stayed in Regan III.

- 12(c) motion on the pleadings, then, even if granted, leave to amend shall be granted under Rule 15(a). Needless to say, the trial court granted summary judgment and denied the Plaintiff's Motion for Leave to Amend. It follows, that in due course, the trial court also denied the respective Rule 59(e) motions that were timely filed. (R.E.'s 16 and 18). It is crystal clear, that the only reason the Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment ®. 41-63) was granted, was because of the retroactive application of the *Walker* decision to the instant case. On the other hand, it is likewise crystal clear that the only reason the Rule 60(b) Motion to Set Aside Judgment (R.E. 3) was denied was because of the trial court's refusal to give the *Wimbly* case retroactive application, without more guidance from the Supreme Court.
- 9. It is noteworthy, that in her Response to Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment, the Plaintiff argued to the court that the statute, MCA §11-1-58 is <u>invalid</u> and <u>unenforceable</u>, as it is in conflict with Rules 8, 10, and 11, because it adds a <u>procedure</u> to the filing of a complaint not required by the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure. (R.E. 19 at 93-94). She also argued that the procedural portion of the statute is <u>unconstitutional</u>. (R.E. 19 at 95). On October 23, 2007, the Attorney General of the state of Mississippi was placed on notice of the Plaintiff's *constitutional challenge* of the procedural aspects of MCA §11-1-58. (R.E. 20).
- 10. Being ever mindful of the requirement to file an appeal within 30 days, if a final judgment is "with prejudice", the Plaintiff, out of an abundance of caution filed a Motion to Clarify Judgment on April 23, 2008. (R.E. 21). As mentioned above, when the Order

Granting Summary Judgment and Judgment of Dismissal was initially entered, it did not state whether the dismissal was "with prejudice" or "without prejudice". In paragraph 5 of the Motion to Clarify Judgment, the Plaintiff informed the court and the Defendant:

"Since Plaintiff is considering commencing an **appeal**, (within 30 days from April 2, 2008), there exists a real need for Plaintiff to have this Motion to Clarify <u>heard on an emergency or expedited basis</u>. Thus, Plaintiff asks the Court to advance this matter, so it can be heard either in person or telephonically prior to May 2, 2008."

Thankfully, on April 30, 2008, the trial judge signed an Order Clarifying Judgment that was entered by the Clerk on May 1, 2008, which clarified that the judgment was a dismissal "without prejudice". (R.E. 22). The order was "Read and Agreed" by the parties. After getting it clarified that the dismissal of Regan I was "without prejudice", Plaintiff decided it was not necessary to file an appeal in Regan I. For judicial economy reasons, she decided it would be more prudent to begin working her case in Regan III.

11. Next, to Plaintiff's pleasant surprise, the Supreme Court, on September 18, 2008, decided the case of *Wimley v. Reid*, 991 So.2d 135. The *Wimley* Court proclaimed that the *Walker* decision and its prodigy were <u>overruled</u> and that the procedural portion of MCA §11-1-58 was <u>unconstitutional</u>, for all the same reasons that Plaintiff had argued against the Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment in Regan I. Feeling vindicated and believing she would be somewhat remise, if she did not file a motion for post-judgment relief, the Plaintiff, on September 29, 2008 mailed the Clerk (filed on October 01, 2008), a Rule 60(b) Motion to Set Aside the Order Granting Summary Judgment and Judgment of Dismissal

(without prejudice) in Regan I herein. (R.E. 3). See also, the Reply in Support of Plaintiff's Rule 60(b) Motion in Regan I (R.E. 5).

12. At the hearing conducted on November 3, 2008, the trial court was informed of the material recent developments in the law, as a result of the Supreme Court's significant announcement in the *Wimley* case. In particular, the trial court was informed that the Supreme Court in *Wimley* had expressly overruled the very *Walker* decision and struck down, as *unconstitutional*, the very statutory procedural requirement for an attorney's certificate in medical negligence complaints, that had wrongfully turned this case on its head. Most importantly, the trial court was informed that the Supreme Court stated in *Wimley* at ¶16:

"Accordingly, we hold that a complaint, otherwise properly filed,
may not be dismissed, and need not be amended, simply because the
plaintiff failed to attach a certificate or waiver. To the extent Walker and
its progeny hold otherwise, they are hereby overruled." (Emphasis added.)

Further, Regan argued that an appeal is <u>not</u> a *prerequisite* to filing a Rule 60(b) motion for relief from a previous order or judgment. (R.E. 5; T. 44). Nevertheless, at the hearing of November 3, 2008, the trial judge voiced that he would not rule on this issue without some guidance from the Supreme Court, by letting "them decide all the issues." (T. 49). More particularly, Judge Landrum instructed the parties to find away to take it up on a joint interlocutory appeal or he would rule so someone could take it up. (T. 49-50).

"Now the Supreme Court comes back and [says] that they're going to relax that requirement. In my opinion if I went forward and said that

since the Supreme Court had the authority and the desire, I guess you could say, to change and give someone some relief in this regard, why should this person be denied that opportunity because a bunch of lawyers and judges made mistakes? I mean, after all, you need to consider the parties and the merits of the case and not throw it out just because we can't get settled law. And sometimes it's frustrating. I don't want to see any injustice done because we made some mistake in the law or deciding the law or using judicials discretion, whatever the case might be.

I don't know how to get it to the Supreme Court, but I'm not going to try it until it goes to the Supreme court and let them decide all the issues. So y'all can take it up either way you want to on a joint interlocutory appeal, which would be my request, or I can make a ruling and let one of you appeal it. Y'all get together and discuss it and I'll rule on it in that regard." (T. 49-50).

The trial judge was informed via post-hearing letters from respective counsel, that a "ruling" would be required for an interlocutory appeal or a regular appeal. (R.E. 9). More importantly, counsel for the hospital informed the trial judge that "the only viable option for guaranteeing an appeal at this time is for the Court to enter an Order Denying Plaintiff's Motion to Set Aside." (R.E. 10). Thus, on December 15, 2008, the trial court entered an order submitted by counsel for the hospital denying Plaintiff's Motion to Set Aside Judgment.

13. On December 24, 2008, Plaintiff filed a Motion For Reconsideration under Rule 59(e) to alter or amend the Order of December 15, 2008 denying relief from judgment under Rule 60(b). (R.E. 7). In particular, ¶ 1 thereof, "An Order is *improper*, if it is based on an *unconstitutional* statute," referring to the fact that the Order Granting Summary Judgment and Judgment of Dismissal (without prejudice) (R.E. 17) and the April 2, 2008 Order denying Plaintiff's Rule 59(e) Motion for Reconsideration, (Exhibit "1" hereto) was based

on the *unconstitutional* procedural portion of MCA §11-1-58. For purposes of this appeal, "improper" and "void" are synonymous in the context in which they were used in Regan's motion. Further, Regan argued that "It is never proper to dismiss a case based on an *unconstitutional* statute and the Plaintiff timely raised the issue of the *statutes's* constitutionality." This is the equivalent of arguing that the order is <u>void</u> under Rule **60(b)(4)**.

- 14. Additionally, the December 24, 2008, Rule 59(e) Motion for Reconsideration (R.E. 7) set forth the names and cites of five cases that provided ample guidance from the appellate courts of this state, directing that a complaint <u>may not be dismissed</u>, when the complaint is filed without an accompanying attorney's certificate of consultation. That is,
 - a. Ellis v. Mississippi Baptist Medical Center, Inc., 2008 WL 5220823, Miss. App., December 16, 2008 (No. 2007-CA-01315-COA)
 - b. *Thomas v. Warden*, 2008 WL 5174087, Miss., December 11, 2008 (Nos 2006-CA-01703-SCT, 2007-CA-00821-SCT).
 - c. Forest Hill Nursing Center et al. V. Brister, 992 So.2d 1179, (Miss., October 23, 2008).
 - d. *McClain v. Clark*, 992 So.2d 636 (Miss., October 16, 2008).
 - e. Wimley v. Reid, 991 So.2d 135 (Miss. September, 18, 2008).

(R.E. 253).

Also, the unsuccessful Rule 59 Motion pointed out that in *Briney v. U. S. Fidelity & Guar.*Co., 714 So.2d 962 (Miss.1998), the Supreme Court allowed *Briney* post-judgment relief under Rule 60(b)(6) about three (3) years after judgment was entered, though <u>no</u> appeal was

taken. (R.E. 7 at 254). And, a detailed *analysis* of the *Briney* factors abundantly supporting Regan's position were set out therein. (R.E. 7 at 255-257). Nevertheless, on January 21, 2009, the trial court entered an Order Denying Motion For Reconsideration. (R.E. 8). Thereafter, feeling aggrieved, a Notice of Appeal (R. 290)was timely filed on February 17, 2009.

III. ARGUMENT

A. THE TRIAL JUDGE ERRED IN NOT AFFORDING REGAN RULE 60(b)(4) RELIEF BECAUSE AN ORDER/JUDGMENT BASED ON AN UNCONSTITUTIONAL STATUTE IS VOID.

Miss. R. Civ. P. 60(b) states in pertinent part:

(b) Mistakes; Inadvertence; Newly Discovered Evidence; Fraud, etc.

On motion and upon such terms as are just, the court may relieve a party or his legal representative from a final judgment, order or proceeding for the following reasons:

(4) the judgment is <u>void</u>;

the motion shall be made within a reasonable time, and for reasons (1), (2) and (3) not more than six months after the judgment, order, or proceeding was entered or taken.

The most important thing to remember in considering the merits of this appeal is that Regan timely argued that the procedural portion of MCA §11-1-58 was *unconstitutional*. Unlike the respective Plaintiffs in *Walker* and its prodigy, Mrs. Regan's attorney timely asserted a constitutional challenge and timely served notice on the state Attorney General inviting him to intervene. (R.E. 20). Regan timely argued its *unconstitutionality* in

opposition of the Hospital's Motion for Summary Judgment and in support of her Rule 60(b) Motion to Set Aside Judgment. Because the procedural portion of MCA §11-1-58 is *unconstitutional*, we know that she wrongfully lost on both fronts at the trial court level.

Under Rule 60(b)4, an order or judgment should be set aside when its is <u>void</u>.

However, in fairness to the trial judge, when Judge Landrum granted Summary Judgment, he did not know that the Supreme Court would take up the issue of the unconstitutionality of the subject statute in *Wimbly v. Reid*, 991 So.2d 135 (Miss. 2008) and declare the procedural portion of the statute *unconstitutional*, thereby expressly overruling *Walker* and its prodigy. Likewise, in fairness to Regan's attorney, when he advised his client to focus on Regan III, rather than appealing Regan I, undersigned counsel did not know that the Supreme Court would reverse *Walker* and declare the procedural part of MCA §11-1-58 *unconstitutional*. In other words, <u>evidence</u> of the *unconstitutionality* of the statute was not available earlier.

But, once *Wimley* was decided, undersigned counsel had a duty to inform the trial court by filing a Rule 60(b) motion for post-judgment relief. And, once mandate issued in *Wimley* on October 9, 2008, the trial court had an obligation to the parties to seek justice by setting aside a <u>void</u> judgment founded on an *unconstitutional* statute. It was error arising to the level of an abuse of discretion for the trial court to deny Regan's Rule 60(b) Motion to Set Aside the Judgment herein.

An unconstitutional law is void, it is mere waste paper, and no valid act can be done

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