IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

SHELIA REGAN

VS.

APPELLANT

APPELLEE

NO. 2009ca-00268

SOUTH CENTRAL REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER

APPELLEE'S RESPONSIVE BRIEF

TO THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR THE SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF JONES COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

CIVIL ACTION NO. 2005-48-cv3

SHEILA REGAN

PLAINTIFF

VS.

SOUTH CENTRAL REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER

DEFENDANT

RICHARD O. BURSON {MB GRAYSON LACEY {MB

OF COUNSEL: GHOLSON BURSON ENTREKIN & ORR, PA 535 N. 5th AVENUE P.O. Box 1289 Laurel, MS 39441-1289 Telephone: (601) 649-4440 Facsimile: (601) 649-4441 Attorneys for the Appellee

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

SHELIA REGAN

VS.

SOUTH CENTRAL REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER

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

Therefore, in light of the fact that Plaintiff failed to commence a timely appeal from the dismissal of Regan I, the trial court correctly denied Plaintiff's belated Rule 60(b) Motion to Set Aside to the extent that Plaintiff attempts to relitigate the dispositive issue that was originally before the trial court at the time of dismissal – whether Plaintiff's complaint which was filed without a certificate of expert consultation should

i

be dismissed pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 11-1-58.²³ This Court should again find that Rule 60(b) motions are not to be used as substitutes for appeal, and in doing so, affirm the trial court's dismissal.

II. Whether Plaintiff has demonstrated sufficient "extraordinary and compelling circumstances" to warrant setting aside the trial court's summary judgment, of which Plaintiff did not commence an appeal

In denying Plaintiff's Rule 60(b) Motion to Set Aside, the trial court correctly found that Plaintiff had failed to demonstrate that the Supreme Court's decision in *Wimley*, holding the procedural portion of Miss. Code Ann. § 11-1-58 unconstitutional and overruling *Walker* and its progeny, constituted sufficient "extraordinary and compelling circumstances" entitling Plaintiff to relief under Rule 60(b)(6) of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure. As discussed at great length in the preceding section, Plaintiff has missed any opportunity to challenge this Court's final judgment of dismissal in Regan I, and she cannot avoid the consequences of that decision by now pursuing a Rule 60(b) motion to set aside, regardless of any changes in decisional law, constitutional or otherwise.²⁴

In order to succeed on a Rule 60(b)(6) motion to set aside, the moving party must make an adequate showing of "extraordinary and compelling circumstances."²⁵ Since Miss. R. Civ. P. 60(b) is almost identical to its federal counterpart, the Court may

25

Briney v. U.S. Fidelity & Guar. Co., 714 So.2d 962, 966 (Miss. 1998)(citations omitted).

²³ See, *Pruett*, 767 So. 2d at 985; *See also*, *City of Jackson v. Jackson Oaks Ltd. Partnership*, 860 So.2d 309, 313 (Miss. 2003)(Rule 60(b) motions should be denied when they are merely an attempt to relitigate a case).

²⁴ See, State ex rel. Miss. Bureau of Narcotics v. One (1) Chevrolet Nova Auto., 573 So.2d 787, 790 (Miss.1990)("Rule 60(b) is not an escape hatch for litigants who had procedural opportunities afforded under other rules and who without cause failed to pursue those procedural remedies")(citing King v. King, 556 So.2d 716 (Miss.1990)).

consider federal constructions when analyzing Miss. R. Civ. P. 60(b) issues.²⁶ For example, in *Batts v. Tow-Motor Forklift Co.*, 66 F.3d 743 (5th Cir. 1995)the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals held that an intervening change in state law following an *Erie* prediction is an insufficient basis to warrant relief under Rule 60(b), and a decision to the contrary would constitute an abuse of discretion.²⁷ Similarly, and directly on point is the Fifth Circuit's position that "changes in decisional law based on constitutional principles are not of themselves extraordinary circumstances sufficient to justify Rule 60(b)(6) relief."²⁸ Again, it can certainly be said that Plaintiff relies exclusively on "changes in decisional law based on constitution to Set Aside, and that alone is <u>insufficient</u> to make a showing of "extraordinary circumstances."²⁹

Still Plaintiff cannot avoid the fact that she had the opportunity, indeed the right, to pursue her constitutional arguments through a timely appeal from the trial court's dismissal of Regan I, and she chose not to do so. Now that the case law has changed and become more favorable to her position, Plaintiff is obviously using her Rule 60(b) Motion to Set Aside to pursue arguments that should have been pursued through a timely appeal. True enough, as the Supreme Court pointed out in *Briney v. United States Fid. & Guar. Co.*, 714 So. 2d 962, 966 (Miss. 1998), "Rule 60 recognizes that relief may be sought after the time for appeal has expired given the right circumstances." (emphasis added). Voluntarily electing to forego a timely appeal and abandoning specific

²⁶ *Id*.

i.

²⁹ *Id.*

²⁷ Batts v. Tow-Motor Forklift Co., 66 F.3d 743, 750-51 (5th Cir. 1995).

²⁸ Id. at 749 (citing Collins v. City of Wichita, 254 F.2d 837 (10th Cir.1958)).

constitutional arguments available and raised prior to the dismissal of an action, only to reassert the same once more favorable caselaw had been handed down, hardly seems to be "the right circumstances."

Nevertheless, assuming *arguendo* that Plaintiff's Rule 60(b) Motion to Set Aside timely sought the relief that it requested and is not barred by Plaintiff's ill-advised decision to forego an appeal, the relevant *Briney* factors weigh in favor of the trial court's denial of Plaintiff's Rule 60(b) Motion to Set Aside.

Factor (1) that "final judgments should not be lightly disturbed" weighs in favor of denial of Plaintiff's Rule 60(b) Motion to Set Aside as the dismissal of Regan I was rendered final and unappealable once Plaintiff's thirty (30) day appeal period expired. From that point forward, all issues addressed to the trial court regarding its dismissal of Regan I were conclusively established and no longer subject to judicial review on appeal.

Factor (2) that "the Rule 60(b) motion is not to be used as a substitute for appeal" weighs heavily in the Hospital's favor as does Factor (4) "whether the motion was made within a reasonable time." Again, Plaintiff did not timely pursue an appeal of the issues that she ultimately relies on in her Rule 60(b) Motion to Set Aside. Instead, she waited several months after her appeal period expired until more favorable caselaw had been handed down to continue to pursue her constitutional arguments via her Rule 60(b) Motion to Set Aside.

"Substantial justice" would not be the result of a liberal application of Rule 60(b)(6) under the circumstances either. For the reasons previously discussed, such an application would reward Plaintiff's ill-advised decision to forego an appeal and not timely pursue her arguments through the appropriate appellate channels and encourage

÷.

countless other aggrieved litigants to follow suit. Thus, contrary to Plaintiff's argument, Factor (3) also weighs in the Hospital's favor. For similar reasons, Factor (7) "whether there are any intervening equities that would make it inequitable to grant relief;" and Factor (8) "any other factors relevant to the justice of the judgment under attack" weigh heavily in favor of the Hospital, as well.

Finally, Factor (6) inquires as to "whether if the judgment was rendered after a trial on the merits the movant had a fair opportunity to present his claim or defense." Although it is true that there has been no trial on the merits of Plaintiff's claims against the Hospital, the reason for this is that all three of Plaintiff's identical causes of action against the Hospital have been fraught with multiple procedural and substantive deficiencies that are completely of Plaintiff's making. However, Plaintiff has had a fair opportunity to present her claims in accordance with the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure, the Mississippi Rules of Appellate Procedure, and Mississippi statute. She has not done so, and that is why the parties find themselves here today. Moreover, Plaintiff had a fair opportunity to present her constitutional arguments prior to the dismissal of Regan I, which she did, as well as a fair opportunity to pursue the same through an appropriate and timely appeal, which she did not.

Clearly, application of the *Briney* factors lead to only one conclusion: the trial court correctly denied Plaintiff's Rule 60(b) Motion to Set Aside. Since Plaintiff relies exclusively in her Rule 60(b) Motion to Set Aside on the same constitutional arguments previously raised prior to the trial court's dismissal of Regan I, which she effectively abandoned by not commencing a timely appeal from the dismissal of Regan I, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in finding that "extraordinary and compelling

i

circumstances" are not present. As the Court is well aware, Rule 60(b) motions should be denied when they are merely an attempt to relitigate a case.³⁰ Therefore, the Court should affirm the trial court's ruling in this regard.

III. Whether Plaintiff may argue for the first time on appeal that she is entitled to relief under Rule 60(b)(4) and (5) when she did not raise either provision at the trial court level.

Plaintiff has improperly raised for the first time on appeal several issues regarding post-judgment relief under Miss. R. Civ. P. 60(b). Specifically, Plaintiff agues the following issues which were not raised at the trial court level:

- A. THE TRIAL JUDGE ERRED IN NOT AFFORDING REGAN RULE 60(b)(4) RELIEF BECAUSE AN ORDER/JUDGMENT BASED ON AN UNCONSTITUTIONAL STATUTE IS <u>VOID</u>.
- B. THE TRIAL JUDGE ERRED IN NOT AFFORDING REGAN RULE 60(b)(5) RELIEF WHERE AN ORDER/JUDGMENT BASED ON A PRIOR JUDGMENT HAS BEEN <u>REVERSED</u>.

(See Br. of Appellant at pages 11 and 15).

Plaintiff's Rule 60(b) Motion to Set Aside, the denial of which forms the basis of this appeal, effectively seeks relief under Rule 60(b)(6) only. [R214;RE3] Neither the Hospital nor Plaintiff ever argued the application of Rule 60(b)(4) or (5) at the trial court level. Not only were neither subsection's language ever cited at the trial court level, but neither subsection's number was ever mentioned either. Although Plaintiff's Rule 60(b) Motion to Set Aside did not refer to the catch-all provision by subsection number or text either, Plaintiff confirms in Plaintiff's Motion for Reconsideration that the Motion to Set Aside was brought pursuant to Rule 60(b)(6) only: "the only way to accomplish justice is to grant the relief requested under Rule 60(b)(6)..." [R257;RE7] Plaintiff then proceeds

City of Jackson v. Jackson Oaks Ltd. Partnership, 860 So.2d 309, 313 (Miss. 2003).

to inform the trial court that "Rule 60(b)(6), the catch-all provision of this equitable rule, provides the Court the authority to set aside the Order of November 27, 2007." [R257;RE7] Again, despite specifically requesting relief pursuant to Rule 60(b)(6)'s catch-all provision, Plaintiff never sought relief at the trial court level pursuant to the provisions of Rule 60(b)(4) or (5). The Hospital submits that this is yet another belated attempt by Plaintiff to circumvent the Mississippi Rules of Appellate Procedure in order to compensate for an earlier decision as to which arguments to pursue.

Since Plaintiff did not raise these arguments at the trial court level, and therefore the trial court had no opportunity to address them, this Court is procedurally barred from considering the same for the first time on appeal. "[A] trial judge cannot be put in error on a matter which was never presented him for decision."³¹ "This Court has long held that it will not consider matters raised for the first time on appeal."³² To be thorough, however, the Hospital will briefly address each of these issues.

Plaintiff's reliance on Rule 60(b)(4) to save her from her decision to forego a timely appeal of the trial court's dismissal in Regan I is misplaced. The Court need look no further than Plaintiff's citation to *Bryant Inc. v. Walters*, 493 So.2d 933 (Miss. 1986), which Plaintiff relies upon for the definition of a "void judgment." "[A] judgment is void only if the court that rendered it lacked jurisdiction of the subject matter, or of the parties, or <u>if it acted in a manner inconsistent with due process of law</u>."³³

³¹ Cooper v. Lawson, 264 So.2d 890, 891 (Miss. 1972).

³² Triplett v. Mayor and Board of Aldermen of City of Vicksburg, 758 So.2d 399, 401 (Miss. 2000)(citing Shaw v. Shaw, 603 So.2d 287, 292 (Miss.1992)).

³³ Walters, 493 So.2d at 938 (emphasis added).

The trial court did not act in a "manner inconsistent with due process of law" when it dismissed Regan I. Plaintiff freely admits that she had raised and even briefed the argument that Miss. Code Ann. § 11-1-58 was unconstitutional in an effort to avoid the dismissal of Regan I. She was afforded a hearing on the issue upon sufficient and proper notice.³⁴ She was given proper notice of the trial court's ruling, and even permitted to file multiple post-judgment relief motions regarding the same, all of which were fully briefed and ruled upon in a timely manner. Most importantly, though, she had the right to appeal the trial court's adverse ruling to pursue her constitutional arguments or any other arguments properly raised at the trial court level, yet she elected not to do so. In short, the trial court cannot be said to have acted in a "manner inconsistent with due process of law" simply, because it applied binding precedent at that time to the facts of the case and followed the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure and the laws of this State in doing so. This is especially true in light of the fact that it was Plaintiff's decision, not the trial court's, to abandon her arguments against dismissal of Regan I and forego a timely appeal of the same.

Moreover, to the extent that Plaintiff's arguments suggest that the trial court acted in a "manner inconsistent with due process of law" by dismissing Regan I based on a statute which was later held to be unconstitutional, this argument fails as well. As the Court is well aware, Miss. Code Ann. § 11-1-58, the statute relied upon by the trial court in its dismissal of Regan I, was rendered unconstitutional by the Supreme Court in *Wimley v. Reid*, 991 So.2d 135 (Miss. 2008). However, contrary to Plaintiff's argument, the Court held that the procedural portion only of Miss. Code Ann. § 11-1-58 was

³⁴ If memory serves undersigned counsel correctly, one of the hearings was actually held in chambers at Plaintiffs' counsel's request.

unconstitutional, because its inclusion was a violation of the Separation of Powers Doctrine. There was no mention of the statute's impact on due process of law, other than the Court noting that "Wimley did not argue before the trial court that strict interpretation of this statute would unconstitutionally deprive her of her right to due process of law. Therefore, we do not address these arguments on appeal." *Id.* at 136. Regardless, Plaintiff does not argue a due process violation to the trial court in her Rule 60(b) Motion to Set Aside.³⁵ [R214;RE3] Thus, Plaintiff cannot say that trial court automatically acted in a "manner inconsistent with due process of law" simply because it reached the opposite decision of the Supreme Court in *Wimley* several months earlier, and she certainly cannot say that she argued this point in her Rule 60(b) Motion to Set Aside before the trial court.

Plaintiff's reliance on Rule 60(b)(5) to save her from her decision to forego a timely appeal of the trial court's dismissal in Regan I is also misplaced. As a threshold matter, Plaintiff argues on page twenty (20) of her Brief that "this time the trial judges {sic} does not give Regan the benefit of applying *Wimley* retroactively in favor of Regan." Of course, Plaintiff was alluding to the trial court's decision to give retroactive application to the *Walker* decision when granting the Hospital's Motion for Summary Judgment. [R135;RE17]. The trial court's decision to do so was entirely appropriate as "newly enunciated rules of law are applied retroactively to <u>cases that are pending trial or</u> that are on appeal, and not final at the time of the enunciation."³⁶ After all, the *Walker* decision was handed down while Regan I was "pending trial…and not final at the time of

³⁵ Wimley is yet another recent example of the Court refusing to consider such arguments that are raised for the first time on appeal.

Thompson v. City of Vicksburg, 813 So.2d 717, 721 (Miss. 2002)(emphasis added).

the enunciation." The Wimley decision, however, was not rendered until <u>after</u> the dismissal of Regan I and the expiration of Plaintiff's thirty (30) day appeal period. Since Regan I was no longer pending trial and was final due to Plaintiff's failure to commence a timely appeal of the trial court's dismissal, it would have been inappropriate for the trial court to apply *Wimley* to revive an otherwise final Regan I. Had Plaintiff timely commenced an appeal from the trial court's dismissal of Regan I, the case would have most likely still been on appeal at the time that *Wimley* was decided, thus, arguably allowing for retroactive application at that time.

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